CASE NO. 32315-3-III

AUG 0 6 2014

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

Court of Appeals of the State of Washington Division III

MICHAEL URIBE and HELEN URIBE husband and wife,

Appellants,

v.

LIBEY, ENSLEY & NELSON, PLLC, a Washington professional limited liability company; GARY LIBEY and JANE DOE LIBEY, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof, RANDALL RUPP AND LUZ DARYL-RUPP, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof; and 7HA FAMILY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company;

Respondents.

Appellants' Opening Brief

Bernard G. Lanz, WSBA 11097 The Lanz Firm, P.S. 216 1st Avenue South, # 333 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 382-1827

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in awarding summary judgment to all of the defendants on all issues and dismissing all of Uribe's claims with prejudice.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- A. ISSUES REGARDING THE CONDUCT OF THE NON-JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE UNDER THE DTA.
 - 1. Waiver Did the trial court err in ruling that the failure of Uribe to file an action to restrain the trustee's resulted in the waiver of any objections to the trustee's sales because waiver is an equitable doctrine and the trial court found that the equities weighed in favor of finding waiver even though the Deed of Trust Act ("DTA") should be strictly construed in the borrower's favor?
 - 2. **Procedural Irregularity.** Did the trial court err in ruling that recording the Resignation and Appointment of Successor Trustee ("RAST") under a fraudulent notarization recorded *after* the Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded was *not* a procedural irregularity under the DTA, but a mere technicality, and that the failure to strictly follow the DTA's mandatory procedures *did not* result in an unlawful trustee's sale.
 - 3. Strict Compliance with the DTA is Required. Did the trial court err in ruling that if effect were given to the plain and unequivocal terms of the Trustee's Deed for the Franklin County Property, Plaintiffs' would receive an unjustified and unreasonable windfall, notwithstanding settled law that the DTA must be strictly construed in favor of the Borrower?

- 4. **Prejudice.** Did the trial court erroneously require a showing of prejudice where no showing of prejudice is required?
- B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO FORMATION OF AN ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT AT THE TRUSTEE'S SALE. Did the trial court erroneously overlook the fact that Libey formed an enforceable contract when he concluded the trustee's sale?
- C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO THE PER SE VIOLATION OF CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT. Did the trial court err in ruling that the non-judicial foreclosures, as conducted in this case by the successor trustee, Libey, were not "per se" violations of the Consumer Protection Act?
- D. ISSUE CONCERNING RUPP'S AND 7HA'S BFP STATUS. Did the trial court err in ruling that Rupp and 7HA were "bona fide purchasers for value" when a search of the real property records would have revealed the "procedural irregularities" that rendered Libey's trustee's sale unlawful?

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiffs, Michael and Helen Uribe, husband and wife, appellants on this appeal (hereinafter "Uribe") are the owners of an excavation company doing business as Uribe, Inc. Uribe has been doing business in Benton County and other counties in the State of Washington and other states for over forty-five (45) years. Michael Uribe is 72 years old and Helen Uribe is 68 years old. See: CP 0603, para. 2.

In addition to operating an excavation company, Uribe was developing a certain parcel of real property located in Benton County into

47, 2.5 acre residential/commercial lots, valued at approximately \$3.76 million *before* the real estate crash (the "Benton County Property"). The Benton County Property was part of a 1,000 acre parcel that Uribe owned and the entire 1,000 acre parcel, including the residential/commercial lots, was worth substantially more than \$3.76 million at the time. Id., para.3.

The Uribes invested a substantial amount of their time and money into the development of the Benton County Property. The engineering drawings for the preliminary plat were completed (\$10,000) and submitted to the county for review and approval, the preliminary plat was approved by Benton County, the engineering for the roads was completed and the roads were constructed (\$264,000), 100 perk holes were dug (\$10,000), a power line was run under the freeway to the Benton County Property (\$100,000) and a barn was built and a well for the barn was drilled (\$50,000). All of these improvements cost, at least, \$442,000. Id., para. 5.

In 2007 Uribe obtained a line of credit from the Bank of Whitman (BW) for up to \$571,000 to finance a pipeline construction project in Idaho. Uribe's line of credit had a maximum limit of \$571,000 ("Benton

¹ BW is or was under control of the FDIC at the time of the occurrences set forth herein.

County Line of Credit") and was secured with a 1st lien deed of trust on the "Benton County Property" (see: CP 0475-0488) and by Uribe's heavy equipment on the terms and conditions set forth in the "Commercial Security Agreements for Loan No. 560005006." See: CP 0525-0540 and CP 0603, para. 4. The Benton County Line of Credit was also secured with the "Franklin County Property" with a mortgage in 2nd lien position. The Uribes signed no personal or corporate guaranty separate and distinct from the promissory note itself.

The Uribes also had a loan from BW in the amount of \$1,655,185 that was secured with 1st lien deed of trust on the Franklin County

Property, hereinafter referred to as the "Franklin County Loan." See: CP 0457, Para. 2. The Franklin County Loan was also secured with the "Benton County Property" by a *mortgage* in 2nd lien position. Uribe signed no personal or corporate guaranty separate and distinct from the promissory note itself.

In 2010, both the "Benton County Line of Credit" (up to \$571,000 at the time) and the "Franklin County Loan" (\$1,655,185) were alleged to be in default according to BW. According to the Notices of Trustee's Sales, the amount due on the Benton County Line of Credit was

approximately \$420,000 and the amount due on the Franklin County Loan was approximately \$2,432,990. See: CP 0495-0499 and CP 0500-0507.

BW hired attorney Gary Libey (Libey) as the "Successor Trustee" to foreclose the two (2) separate deeds of trusts securing two (2) separate promissory notes on each of the two (2) separate properties, the Benton County and the Franklin County properties. BW also hired Libey to file a replevin action in superior court to repossess and ultimately sell the Uribes' construction equipment "Personal Property."

BW and Libey planned the non-judicial foreclosures of the Benton County and the Franklin County properties. However, BW and Libey were very aware of a serious problem relating to the proposed double foreclosures:

My main concern is that we have 2 loans on 2 parcels which we are foreclosing on in 2 separate proceedings as allowed by the law. I understand one parcel (Benton County Property) is worth a lot more than the debt and the other is worth a lot less than its debt (Franklin County Property). Atty Crane Bergdall, who is the attorney for the CRP tenant, who will lose his CRP share after the foreclosure, called me and said they may bid at the sale (Benton County Property) since the land is worth a lot more than the debt against it. On the other hand the land in Franklin County is worth a lot less, so if a sale happens and someone bids more than the BW debt, the BW is faced with losing any equity in the piece (Benton County Property).

CP 0489-0493.

After failing to obtain a deed in lieu, BW and Libey discussed how to resolve their problem and came up with the following solution:

The BW in my opinion correctly decided to foreclose non-judicially which means that the trustee conducts the sale, there is no deficiency and no right of redemption.

...... [I suspect the BW will bid up to the fmv of the Franklin County property of \$600k, although the debt is close to \$2.4m, and then roll the excess debt into the second sale whereby the BW would bid up to or close to the \$1.4m fmv of the Benton County land to maximize the value of both pieces of land due to the crosscollateralization as explained below]. I have been contacted by an attorney [Crane Bergdall] who says he has a client interested [the tenant/crp tenant] who will likely bid on the Benton county land because the land may have \$1m in equity. The Benton County Deed of Trust contains a cross-collateralization clause which states in part that in addition to Note referenced; the Deed of Trust also secures all other indebtedness from Uribe to the BW, which is great of course. However, Uribe may take issue with me as the trustee taking the excess money from the bidder and applying it to the other loan. If I get sued as trustee by these borrowers or any third party who may be involved, then I need full and complete indemnification from the BW [and so does Tim Esser]. I may have to resign as trustee because of liability concerns if indemnification is not granted.

CP 0491-0493.

As stated above, Libey requested an "Indemnity Agreement" from BW in case Libey, as the Successor Trustee, takes "...excess money from the bidder and applies it to the other loan" and then gets sued by Uribe. Id.

The "Indemnity Agreement" BW signed protects Libey from liability for: "...any acts, errors, or omissions as trustee or successor trustee to any deed of trust foreclosure action." Id.

Despite knowing the risks and the status of the law generally prohibiting a deficiency in a non-judicial foreclosure, except under the very specific conditions set forth in RCW 61.24.100, none of which were present here, BW and Libey nonetheless decided to "cross-collateralize" the "deficiency" from the trustee's sale for the "Franklin County Property" (the under-secured property) onto the "Benton County Property" (the over-secured property). By formulating the foreclosure strategy in this way BW and Libey hoped to deter a cash bidder for the "Benton County Property" (e.g. "the tenant/CRP tenant") from bidding up to the fair market value of the "Benton County Property."

Therefore, by "cross-collateralizing" the "deficiency" from the Franklin County Loan onto the Benton County Line of Credit, the appellees would "chill" any attempt to outbid BW for the alleged amount claimed due and owing (approx. \$420,000) in the Notice of Trustee's Sale for the Benton County Property, which was worth \$1.5 million. CP 0574-0578. Libey *never* notified Uribe that the "cross-collateralization" provision would be invoked in the non-judicial foreclosure even though he

knew it was questionable if this procedure was legal under RCW 61.24.100.² CP 0494-0507.

After the Notices of Trustee's Sale for both properties were purportedly "given" by Libey, more discussions ensued by and among BW and Libey to obtain both properties at the trustee's sales. Libey and the other former defendants discussed how much to bid on each property in an e-mail dated early in December 2010. CP 0508-0511. The aforementioned e-mail includes the title company's analysis about how to foreclose two deeds of trust on two parcels of property securing *one* promissory note and obtaining title insurance thereafter within the parameters of *Donovick v. Seafirst*, 111 Wash.2d 413, 757 P.2d 1378 (1988). CP 0510-0511.

Even though *Donovick* does not apply to foreclosing two deeds of trust securing the repayment of *two* promissory notes, as is the situation

² The issue of whether a deficiency judgment is proper under the DTA has recently been the subject of several lower court cases and there is a split of authority in that regard. The facts in those cases are also distinguishable from this case; but the point is the DTA provides for a deficiency against a Borrower, as that term is defined in the DTA, in the cases arising under RCW 61.24.100 (3)(a)(i)(A)-waste to the property and (B) wrongful retention of rents. Otherwise, a deficiency judgment can only be obtained against a Guarantor, who cannot be a Borrower. In this case, there is no Guarantor only the Borrowers, the Uribes. Consequently, it would be impossible under the DTA to obtain a "deficiency judgment" against the Uribes.

here³, BW, Libey and the title company apparently decided to proceed to the trustee's sale as had been done in *Donovick* by foreclosing one property quickly after the other in order to (in theory) preserve the "deficiency" from Franklin County Property to "cross-collateralize" onto the Benton County Property. As stated above, Libey decided to do this because at the time of the trustee's sales, the Benton County Property was worth \$1.5 million and had a debt of only \$420,000, according to the Notice of Trustee's Sale and the Franklin County Property was worth around \$400,000 and had a debt of \$2.4 million, according to the Notices of Trustee's Sale even though *both Notices of Trustee's Sale explicitly stated that the amount due on each obligation was limited to the amount due on the promissory note secured thereby.* CP 0494-0507

The Trustee's Sale for the "Franklin County Property" (the undersecured property) was set for 10:00 a.m. and the trustee's sale for the "Benton County Property" (the over-secured property) was set for 11:00 a.m. As stated above, there was no notice in either of the Notices of Trustee's Sale that indicated the Successor Trustee was going to "take" the

³ After *Donovick* was decided in 1988, the legislature amended RCW 61.24.100 to permit the foreclosure of as many parcels as were encumbered by deeds of trusts that secured *one* promissory note. See RCW 61.24.100(3)(b). This amendment covers that situation, but not the situation presented here where there are *two* (2) promissory notes secured by *two* (2) parcels of real properties—separate loans and different collateral.

deficiency from the Franklin County Property and "give" it to the Benton County Property.

Moreover, by treating each of these loans separately and distinctly, both Notices of Trustee's Sale made it crystal clear that any "deficiency" from one obligation or the other would *not* be "cross-collateralized" with the other obligation. Libey never notified Uribe that this course of conduct was changing or had been changed and the trustees' sales were held.

First, Libey sold the "Franklin County Property" on December 17, 2010 at 10:00 a.m. The Trustee's Deed for the "Franklin County Property" states:

...the trustee then and there sold at the public auction to said Grantee the highest bidder therefor, the property hereinabove described for the sum of Three Hundred Ninety Thousand Dollars (\$390,000) cash by satisfaction in full of the obligation then secured by said deed of trust, together with all fees, costs and expenses as provided by statute.

CP 0494-0500 (emphasis added).

Next, Libey sold the "Benton County Property" on the same day at 11:00 a.m. The Trustee's Deed for the "Benton County Property" states:

...the trustee then and there sold at the public auction to said Grantee the highest bidder therefor, the property hereinabove described for the sum of **One Million Two**

Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$1,200,000) cash by satisfaction in full of the obligation then secured by said deed of trust, together with all fees, costs and expenses as provided by statute.

CP 0512-0517 (emphasis added).

With the Franklin County Loan having been satisfied in full as stated in the Trustee's deed (and per the DTA), Libey had no "deficiency" to cross-collateralize onto the "Benton County Property." Any further proceedings to foreclose the Franklin County Loan were illegal—the Franklin County Loan had been satisfied in full.

Nevertheless, BW and Libey "took" the non-existent "deficiency" from the Franklin County Loan and "gave" it to the Benton County Property to open the bid at \$1.2 million for the Benton County Property, though the actual obligation outstanding against that property was only \$420,000, less the proceeds from the sale of the Uribes' Personal Property.

Libey and BW knew that "giving" the non-existent "deficiency" from the Franklin County Property to the Benton County Property all but eliminated the potential for being outbid by a bidder at the trustee's sale. This bid, based on a non-existent deficiency, or, if the trustee's sale had been conducted as planned, an illegal deficiency under RCW 61.24.100,

resulted in BW acquiring Uribe's most valuable property—the "Benton County Property" for pennies on the dollar.

Before BW commenced the trustee's sales, BW and Libey, as BW's attorney, sued Uribe for the replevin of Uribe's Personal Property. CP 0518-0521. During the pendency of the trustees' sales, BW took physical possession of Uribe's Personal Property and sold most of Uribe's Personal Property at a public auction. On the day of the trustee's sales, December 17, 2010, BW had realized at least \$281,245 from the sale of Uribe's Personal Property and should have credited that amount to the amount due on the Benton County Line of Credit (e.g. the "bulk" of the proceeds "going to Loan No. 20005006 (\$271,245)). CP 0522-0524, CP 0525-0540, CP 0582-0600, the auctioneer testimony indicating that the proceeds from the sale of Uribe's personal property were available at the time of the trustee's sale on December 17, 2010. CP 0582-CP0586.

Again, BW and Libey were fully aware of the public auction of Uribe's Personal Property. Libey-was the attorney who filed the action. He withdrew as BW's lawyer in that action in October 2010 during the pendency of the trustees' sales that he was conducting as the "trustee." CP 0541-0544.

By the time the proceeds from the sale of Uribe's Personal

Property were delivered to BW, both the Benton County Line of Credit

and the Franklin County Loan had been satisfied in full at the trustee's

sales. Nonetheless, on December 31, 2010 the net proceeds from the sale

of Uribes' Personal Property were paid to BW instead of Uribe. CP 0523
0524. Thus, not only did BW obtain both the Benton County and the

Franklin County properties, it also obtained the net proceeds from the sale

of Uribe's Personal Property in the amount of, at least, \$281,487.14--the

"Grand Slam" for BW and Libey.

If Libey had *not* illegally "taken" the non-existent "deficiency" from the "Franklin County Property" (some \$800,000) and "given" it to the "Benton County Property" and *had* credited the Benton County Loan (balance due of approximately \$420,000 as set forth in Notice of Trustee's Sale (CP 0500-0507)) with the \$271,241 in cash from the sale of Uribe's Personal Property, as should have been done, Uribe would have only had to pay approximately \$149,000 to save the Benton County Property, worth \$1.5 million, from foreclosure. CP 0547-0578.

The Benton County Property sold four (4) months later for \$1,281,200 to Randall Rupp and Luz Dary-Rupp, husband and wife and 7HA Family, LLC). CP 0545-0549

It must be noted that the Benton County Property had an adjudicated fair market value of \$1.5 million at the time, as stated in the Bankruptcy Court Order Granting Bank of Whitman's Motion for Relief from Stay as to Real and Personal Property. Now, Rupp and 7HA, the purchasers of Uribe's former 946.04 acres, have that same property under contract to sell for \$3,879,950. CP 0573--0578. Furthermore, and after that sale, Rupp and 7HA will retain 170.05 acres. CP 0411-0414.

IV. STANDARD ON REVIEW

Plaintiff disputes the trial court's conclusions as set forth in the Judgment. Conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*, a standard which permits the appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. *See: e.g., Skamania County v. Columbia River Gorge Commission*, 144 Wash.2d 30, 42, 26 P.3d 241 (2001). In this case, the trial court's rulings, as incorporated in the judgment, are outside the range of acceptable choices given the applicable legal standard, based on an incorrect standard, and on facts that do not meet the requirements of the correct standard.

When the facts are undisputed, as here, application of the facts to the law is reviewed *de novo*. *Crystal, China and Gold, Ltd. v. Factoria Center Investments*, 93 Wn. App. 606, 610, 969 P.2d 1093 (1999); *and*

see: Seattle v. Sheperd, 93 Wash.2d 861, 867, 613 P.2d 1158 (1980); State v. Niedergang, 43 Wash.App. 656, 658-59, 719 P.2d 576 (1986).

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>ISSUES REGARDING THE CONDUCT OF THE NON-</u>JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE UNDER THE DTA:

1. Waiver. The trial court ruled that Uribe waived any and all post-sale challenges to the trustee's sale when he failed to restrain the trustee's sale under RCW 61.24 et seq. This ruling ignores the fact that a trustee's sale can be restrained in two (2) ways under RCW 61.24.130: (i) by an injunction; or (ii) a bankruptcy filing and Uribe filed a bankruptcy petition to do just that:

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