FILED
September 3, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

CASE NO. 32315-3-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

MICHAEL URIBE and HELEN URIBE husband and wife,

Appellants,

v.

LIBEY, ENSLEY & NELSON, PLLC, a Washington professional limited liability company; GARY LIBEY and JANE DOE LIBEY, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof, RANDALL RUPP AND LUZ DARYL-RUPP, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof; and 7HA FAMILY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS GARY LIBEY AND LIBEY, ENSLEY & NELSON, PLLC'S BRIEF

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

In *Donovick*, the Washington Supreme Court upheld Seattle-First National Bank's right to non-judicially foreclose on a second deed of trust where there were two separate deeds of trust on separate properties, securing one financial obligation. *Id.* at 416. The Court held that the bank's first foreclosure on a first deed of trust was irrelevant to the status of the second. *Id.* "Any other result would 'give an unjustified, unwarranted

windfall to the debtor—a windfall completely without merit in logic or equity in principle." *Id.; see also Beal Bank, SSB v. Sarich,* 161 Wn.2d 544, 553, 167 P.3d 555 (2007). The *Donovick* Court emphasized that the Deed of Trust Act does not preclude a creditor bank from realizing upon the entire security given by debtors. 111 Wn.2d at 416. In fact, the Court stated that "the deed of trust act does not mandate or even contemplate that the entirety of the security must be sold in gross as a single parcel." *Id.* at 415.

In this case, the larger of the Uribes' two loans, the 2002 Franklin loan, was secured by some of Plaintiff's personal property, a first priority deed of trust on the Franklin property, and a first priority mortgage on the Benton County property. CP 136-139, 198-270. The second loan, the 2007 Benton loan, was secured by some of the Uribes' personal property, a second priority deed of trust on the Benton County property, and a second priority mortgage on the Franklin County property. CP 136-193. Notably too, the second 2007 loan included a cross-collateralization clause back to the 2002 Franklin loan. CP 200. Just as in *Donovick* where the Court allowed the bank to conduct back-to-back foreclosure sales to recover the debt owing, here, holding back-to-back foreclosure sales to recover the

.

⁴ "Collateral" states "Borrower acknowledges this Note is secured by all previous Mortgages" and includes both the first priority mortgage on the Benton county property and the first priority deed of trust on the Franklin County property).

debt owing on two separate deeds of trust was the proper way for the bank to attempt to recover on the Uribes' exceptionally large debt under both loans. Notably too, the fact that there were two loans in this case versus one loan in the *Donovick* case is an irrelevant distinction, as the cross-collateralization clause permits the Bank of Whitman to realize upon all collateral secured under the loans, as they did.

The Deed of Trust Act contemplated what the *Donovick* Court called a "quid pro quo between the lenders and borrowers," where the borrower has no right to redemption (RCW 61.24.050) and the secured party has no right to a deficiency judgment (RCW 61.24.100). *Id.* "By giving up the right to a deficiency judgment, however, the secured party did not also give up the right to realize upon the security given." *Id.* (emphasis added)

In this case, the Uribes owed Bank of Whitman over \$2.7 million, which was secured by both real and personal property valued at approximately \$2.5 million as of June 2010, which was approximately 6 months before the sales were held. CP 281-286. While the bank was not allowed to go after the Uribes directly for any deficiency after the foreclosure sales, the bank is allowed, as recognized in *Donovick*, to liquidate any additional collateral that secured that debt. 111 Wn.2d at 415-16. The cross-collateralization clause found in the 2007 Benton

County loan allowed the lender to realize upon multiple pieces of collateral, including the Benton County property and the Uribes' personal property, in order to satisfy the Uribes' full obligation. *See* RCW 61.24.030(4); RCW 61.24.100; *see also* 27 Wash. Prac., Creditors' Remedies—Debtors' Relief §3.37 (2d ed.) (amendments to the Deed of Trust Act clarify that cross collateralization clauses—which "are frequently found in commercial loan documents"—"allow recovery against all of the collateral held on any of the obligations"). The Uribes' claim, that this process was improper, is without merit.

Furthermore, and perhaps more importantly, the Uribes had no equity in the property and, thus, cannot prove that they were damaged by the conduct of the sales. The Benton County property was subject to *both a deed of trust and a mortgage*. To set aside, vacate, or void the Benton county property foreclosure under the deed of trust would still leave the Uribes with a property subject to a mortgage under the first 2002 loan. CP 136-139, 198-270. Without equity in the property, the Uribes cannot prove that they were damaged by the non-judicial foreclosure sale of the Benton County property.

C. NO COLLUSION OR CONSPIRACY AND THE BIDDING WAS NOT CHILLED.

The Uribes have alleged that Libey, the Bank of Whitman, and its

officers colluded "to raise the bid for the Benton County Property at the trustee's sale to chill any competitive bids…because these defendants knew that there was at least one interested bidder for the Benton County Property." CP 378. The Uribes claim that this alleged collusion gives rise to claims under RCW 61.24.135, RCW 19.86, et seq (CPA), Civil Conspiracy, and under §1962(d) of RICO. However, these allegations are based on erroneous facts and unsupported allegations.

There are two types of chilled bidding:

The first is intentional, occurring where there is collusion for the purpose of holding down the bids. The second consists of inadvertent and unintentional acts by the trustee that have the effect of suppressing the bidding. To establish chilled bidding, the challenger must establish the bidding was actually suppressed, which can sometimes be shown by an inadequate sales price. *Country Exp. Stores, Inc. v. Sims,* 87 Wn. App. 741, 749, 943 P.2d 374 (1997).

First, and most importantly, there were no other bidders present at the foreclosure sales. CP 876-898.⁵ The Bank of Whitman was the only bidder at the sales. *Id.* In order to establish chilled bidding, "the challenger must establish the bidding was actually suppressed." *Country Express*

29

⁵ Both of the *Trustee's Sale Affidavits* signed by Mr. Matheson on the day of the sales state that "[t]here were no other bidders present no any other bids received."

Stores, Inc., 87 Wn. App. at 749. In Country Express Stores, the Court held that "[i]f Appellants cannot put forth evidence that there were bidders present at the sale and that the bids were chilled, Appellants cannot prevail on their claims." Id. That Court emphasized the rules cited above and stated that "in order to meet their burden to oppose summary judgment in respondent's favor, [appellants] must make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of the elements essential to that party's case." Id. (citing Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989)). The debtors in that case asserted that there were third parties present at the sale, but the debtors failed to present evidence that these parties were bidders. Id. at 750.

Even more convincing than the facts in *County Express Stores*, in this case, the Uribes' cannot prove that there were any other bidders present at the sale, as the person who called the sales in both counties confirmed in affidavits he signed the day both sales took place. CP 876-898. Thus, it is impossible for the Uribes to prevail on any claims regarding collusion or conspiracy based on chilled bidding at the sales because there was no one present at the sales to be "chilled."

Second, Libey recalls receiving only one phone call from an interested party before the sales took place. CP 932-933 at ¶6. The call was received by Libey several weeks before the sales occurred. *Id.* At the

time, he indicated that he was unsure what the opening bid was going to be on the properties and that the caller should call back a few days before the sale to get that information. *Id.* That person never called Libey back. *Id.* Therefore, before the sales took place, no third parties even knew what the opening bid on either property would be, because Libey had not told any third parties, so it is impossible for the Uribes to prove that any potential bidder was "chilled" before the sales took place.

Also, to emphasize again, the Benton County property was not just encumbered by the deed of trust, it was also encumbered by a first priority mortgage under the Uribes' first 2002 Franklin loan. CP 136-139, 198-270. As such, it is unlikely any potential bidder would have been interested in the Benton County property regardless of the bid price because there was still a mortgage on the property, and the Uribes had no equity.

To support this chilled bidding theory, the Uribes are presumably relying on correspondence exchanged between the Bank of Whitman and Libey in the months preceding the sales, in which the two parties were trying to find the most cost efficient and proper way to conduct the sales. However, such communications are not improper, nor do they indicate collusion. It is not uncommon for the trustee and beneficiary to have a relationship or to communicate with one another, just as the Uribes-debtors could have been in touch with Libey about the sales. Notably, however,

the Uribes never contacted Libey before the sales occurred. CP 933 at ¶7.

Further, the notices of sale as recorded and posted to the public indicated that the debt owing on the Benton County property under the deed of trust was approximately \$400,000. CP 284. While it did not indicate that the property was cross-collateralized under another larger loan in default, that fact only works to the Uribes' advantage. Even assuming arguendo that the Benton County property was worth \$1.5 million at the time of the sale, as the Bankruptcy Court found, the notice of sale could not have, in and of itself, chilled bidding because people would presumably be more inclined to show up at the sale if they thought there was only \$400,000 owing, as opposed to \$2.7 million. However, as stated above, no other bidders were present at the sales and no third parties, much less potential bidders, were even told by Libey that the Bank of Whitman intended to place a \$1.2 million opening bid on the Benton County property, so the Uribes' claims for collusion and conspiracy as well as their related claims under the Deed of Trust Act, Consumer Protection Act, and RICO, should be dismissed.

D. LIBEY DID NOT COMMIT CONVERSION OF PROCEEDS FROM PERSONAL PROPERTY SALES BECAUSE LIBEY NEVER HAD POSSESSION OF ANY OF THOSE PROCEEDS.

First, while Libey was originally appointed to handle the replevin

proceedings related to the Uribes' personal property, Libey ceased assisting in the replevin matter before any of the sales or auctions took place. CP 932 at ¶5. Libey was not present at any of the sales or auctions of the Uribes' personal property, and he was never in possession of the Uribes' personal property or the proceeds from the sales or auctions. *Id.* In fact, the auctioneer in charge of handling the sales of the Uribes' personal property has already testified that the proceeds from the auctions and sales were given directly to the Bank of Whitman. CP 287-305. Perhaps the Uribes could have raised this claim against the Bank of Whitman or the auctioneer who handled the money and transferred it to the Bank, but no such claim should survive against Libey.

Therefore, because Libey was never in possession of any proceeds from the sales or auctions of the Uribes' personal property, it is impossible for him to have "wrongfully received" anything. As such, Libey cannot be held liable for conversion as to any proceeds from the personal property auctions and sales.

Second, regardless of Libey's involvement—or lack thereof—in the personal property sales and auctions, the Uribes cannot prove that they have been damaged. The Uribes owed Bank of Whitman at least

⁶ Booker's declaration demonstrates that he was in contact with Tom Hammons and would transfer all funds to the Bank of Whitman directly, not to Libey.

33

\$2,770,854.18 as of June 2010. CP 281-286. The proceeds from both the non-judicial foreclosures and the personal property sales/auctions totaled \$1,896,687.13, which is far below the debt owing. CP 876-898, 287-305. Thus, the Uribes cannot demand monetary damages when the total sales did not cover the debt owing on their loans. Such a result would be absurd as a conversion claim requires some amount to be "wrongfully received." Therefore, the Uribes' claim that the Bank of Whitman somehow owed the Uribes' money—despite the fact that even after all of the sales were conducted and the Uribes' debt was still not fully satisfied—is nonsensical.

E. THE URIBES' CPA ARGUMENTS FAILS.

1. The Uribes waived the CPA arguments by failing raise them in the trial court.

On review, an appellate court may affirm the superior court's decision on any ground supported by the record. *Allstot v. Edwards*, 116 Wn. App. 424, 430, 65 P.3d 696 (2003); *Redding v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr.*, 75 Wn. App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483 (1994). Issues not raised in the hearing for summary judgment cannot be considered for the first time on appeal. *Almy v. Kvamme*, 63 Wn.2d 326, 329, 387 P.2d 372 (1963); *Save-Way Drug, Inc. v. Standard Inv. Co.*, 5 Wn. App. 726, 727, 490 P.2d 1342 (1971). A party who fails to raise an issue at trial normally waives the right to raise that issue on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs.*,

164 Wn. 2d 432, 441, 191 P.3d 879 (2008); River House Dev. Inc. v. Integrus Architecture, 167 Wn. App. 221, 230, 272 P.3d 289 (2012).

For the first time on appeal, the Uribes assert CPA arguments and analyses. Appellants' Brief at 37-50. With the exception of mentioning the CPA in passing while citing the *Klem* case in the context of the Uribes' waiver analysis issue, CP 1055, the Uribes never raised any specific CPA claim or analysis in their opposition brief to Libey's motion for summary judgment. Accordingly, these arguments and issues have been waived.

2. The notarization issue in the case relates to the resigning trustee, not Libey.

In addition to waiving any CPA arguments by failing to raise them in the trial court in opposition to Libey's motion for summary judgment, the Uribe's CPA arguments fail.

Regarding the notarization issue, in their appellants' brief, the Uribe's cite *Klem* in support of their CPA theory against Libey. However, the facts in Klem are distinguishable from the Uribe's case.

In *Klem*, the trustee had a practice of its employees falsely predating notices of sale. *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 77 P.3d 1179 (2013)("This notice of sale was one of apparently many foreclosure documents that were falsely notarized by Quality and its employees around that time. There was considerable evidence that

falsifying notarizations was a common practice, and one that Quality employees had been trained to do."). The notarization at issue in *Klem* arose from the trustee's employee's conduct. *Id.* at 794-95 ("We hold that the act of false dating by a notary employee of the trustee in a nonjudicial foreclosure is an unfair or deceptive act or practice").

Unlike in *Klem*, in the Uribe's case, trustee Libey had no involvement with the prior trustee's resignation or the notarization of his signature, and the notarization issue only relates to the resigning trustee Chicago Title's signature. CP 313-319, 328-334. Moreover, the RASTs appointing Libey as the successor trustee were signed by the beneficiary, Bank of Whitman, who appointed Libey as the trustee. The Uribes have raised no issue with the Bank of Whitman's signature appointing Libey. Additionally, as stated above, the prior trustee, Chicago Title, did not need to resign before Libey could be appointed. Instead, Libey's appointment occurred when the beneficiary, Bank of Whitman, appointed him. *See* RCW 61.24.010(2)("The trustee may resign at its own election or be replaced by the beneficiary"). There is no evidence that Libey, or any of his employees or agents, falsely notarized any signatures.

3. Back-to back sales and cross-collateralized sales, and conversion issue, do not give rise to CPA liability.

Similar to the notarization issue, the Uribes failed to assert any CPA

analysis in response to Libey's motion for summary judgment, and therefore, the Uribes have waived this issue.

Notwithstanding the waiver, on appeal, the Uribes cite no CPA authority relating to the back-to-back sales, cross-collateralized sales, and the conversion issue. The Uribes merely conclude these issues give rise to CPA liability.

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